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)
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DECISION


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) has cause to discipline John H. Partney because he pled guilty to violating a federal wildlife regulation.    

Procedure


On February 7, 2006, the MREC filed a complaint seeking cause to discipline Partney’s real estate salesperson license.  Partney received a copy of the complaint and notice of hearing on February 18, 2006, and filed an answer on March 16, 2006 (forwarded to this Commission by the Missouri Attorney General’s Office).  The MREC filed a motion for summary determination on May 25, 2006.  We gave Partney until June 13, 2006, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond. 

Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B)(3)(A) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party raises a genuine issue as to such facts.  

Findings of Fact

1.
Partney holds a real estate salesperson license that is current and active, and was so at all relevant times.
2.
On September 10, 1997, this Commission issued its decision finding cause to discipline Partney’s license because he pled guilty to selling ammunition to minors, conspiracy to transport unlawfully taken wildlife in interstate commerce, transportation of unlawfully taken wildlife in interstate commerce, conspiracy to remove property to prevent seizure, and removal of property to prevent seizure.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Partney, No. 97-0995 RE 
(Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Sept. 10, 1997).
  
3.
On June 21, 2004, the United States Attorney filed a four-count information in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, asserting four violations of 36 CFR § 261.8.  Counts III and IV asserted:  
COUNT III

THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

Within the Special Maritime and Territorial jurisdiction of the United States, on or about February 19, 2004, in the County of Carter, in the Eastern District of Missouri,

JOHN H. PARTNEY,

defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally set three MB750 leg hold traps on Forest Service land and did trap a bobcat.

In violation of Title 36, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Section 261.8(c).

COUNT IV

THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

Within the Special Maritime and Territorial Jurisdiction of the United States, on or about February 19, 2004, in the County of Carter, in the Eastern District of Missouri,

JOHN H. PARTNEY,

defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally acquired [sic], possessed and transported a bobcat on Forest Service land.

In violation of Title 36, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Section 261.8(a).


4.
On August 4, 2004, Partney pled guilty to Counts III and IV.  On November 22, 2004, the court entered its judgment based on the guilty plea, stating that Partney was adjudicated guilty of Counts III and IV.  The court sentenced Partney to three months in prison and ordered him to pay a criminal monetary penalty of $5,020.  

5.
Partney committed the conduct alleged in Counts III and IV.  


6.
Partney does not recognize the wrongfulness of his actions and has not embraced a new moral code.  

Conclusions of Law


Section 621.045
 gives us jurisdiction of the complaint.  The MREC has the burden to prove that Partney has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


The MREC alleges cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15), (17), and (18), RSMo 2000, and § 339.100.2(16), (18), and (19), RSMo Supp. 2004.  We must apply the substantive law in effect when Partney committed the conduct that the MREC charges in the complaint.  Section 1.170, RSMo 2000; Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F. Supp. 918, 920-21 
(E.D. Mo., 1984).  His conduct occurred in February 2004 and he pled guilty on August 4, 2004.  Sections 339.100 and 339.040 were amended, effective August 28, 2004, by H.B. 985, 92nd General Assembly, Second Regular Session.  The only substantive change to the provisions pertinent to the instant case was the addition of “misconduct” and “gross negligence” to 
§ 339.l00.2(19), which had been subdivision (18).  We cite the 2000 version because it was in effect at the pertinent times, and the result would be the same under either version of the statute.  


The complaint is premised on Partney’s guilty pleas to violation of 36 CFR § 261.8(a) and (c), which provide:  
The following are prohibited to the extent Federal or State law is violated:  

(a) Hunting, trapping, fishing, catching, molesting, killing or having in possession any kind of wild animal, bird, or fish, or taking the eggs of any such bird.
*   *   * 
(c) Possessing equipment which could be used for hunting, fishing, or trapping.  

16 U.S.C. § 551 provides: 

The Secretary of Agriculture shall make provisions for the protection against destruction by fire and depredations upon the public forests and national forests which may have been set aside or which may be hereafter set aside under the provisions of section 471 of this title, and which may be continued; and he may make such rules and regulations and establish such service as will insure the objects of such reservations, namely, to regulate their occupancy and use and to preserve the forests thereon from destruction; and any violation of the provisions of this section, sections 473 to 478 and 479 to 482 of this title or such rules and regulations shall be punished by a fine of not more than $500 or imprisonment for not more than six months, or both.  Any person charged with the violation of such rules and regulations may be tried and sentenced by any United State magistrate judge specially designated for that purpose by the court by which he was appointed, in the same manner and subject to the same conditions as provided for in section 3401(b) to (e) of title 18.  
I.  Subdivision (15):
Qualifications under § 339.040.1

The MREC cites § 339.100.2(15), which allows discipline for: 

[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]

Section 339.040.1 provides:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations, or partnerships whose officers, associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the commission that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

*   *   * 

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.

A.  Good Moral Character

The MREC asserts that by violating 36 C.F.R. § 261.8, Partney demonstrated that he lacks good moral character.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  Hernandez v. State Board of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.1 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  The guilty plea constitutes a “declaration against interest,” which the defendant may explain away.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  Partney does not dispute that he committed the conduct to which he pled guilty in two separate counts:  setting traps and trapping a bobcat on Forest Service land, and possessing and transporting a bobcat on Forest Service land.  The MREC further argues that Partney’s lack of good moral character is demonstrated by the fact that this Commission has previously found grounds to discipline his license.  The MREC argues that it is not seeking to discipline Partney for the same conduct as in the prior case, but on the basis that his continued failure to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law demonstrates his lack of good moral character.

Section 314.200 provides:  

No board or other agency created pursuant to laws of the state of Missouri, or by any city, county or other political subdivision of the state, for the purpose of licensing applicants for occupations and professions may deny a license to an applicant primarily upon 
the basis that a felony or misdemeanor conviction of the applicant precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character, where the conviction resulted in the applicant's incarceration and the applicant has been released by pardon, parole or otherwise from such incarceration, or resulted in the applicant being placed on probation and there is no evidence the applicant has violated the conditions of his probation.  The board or other agency may consider the conviction as some evidence of an absence of good moral character, but shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the applicant seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant's character.
Partney has been released from incarceration.  In Berger, 764 S.W.2d at 708-11, the court applied § 314.200 and concluded that this Commission could not discipline the licensee under 
§ 339.100.2(15) solely on grounds of his conviction.   
In order to demonstrate rehabilitation after committing a crime, licensing applicants must show that they understand the wrongfulness of their actions and have embraced a new moral code.  Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  Partney’s answer to the complaint and his answers to Request for Admissions 18-33 show that he fails to understand the wrongfulness of his actions.  Partney seeks to excuse his conduct on the basis that he was protecting his animals on his property.  However, he did not set the traps on his property—he set them on Forest Service land.  Partney further asserts that he shot the bobcat to end its suffering.  This ignores the fact that the bobcat’s suffering was caused by Partney’s own actions in illegally setting the trap.  Rather than embracing a new moral code in conformity with the law, Partney has established his own moral code in which he chose to protect his property in a way that violated the law.  His failure to comply with the law has continued in spite of past disciplinary proceedings.  Partney could not have been refused a license solely on the basis of his conviction.  However, because he does not recognize the wrongfulness of his actions, there is sufficient evidence that Partney lacks good moral character, 
and the MREC would have grounds to refuse to issue a license on that basis.  Therefore, we conclude that Partney’s license is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(15).  
B.  Competency to Transact the Business of a Broker


The MREC contends that Partney’s recent violations show that he is not competent to transact the business of a real estate salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.  

Competency, when referring to occupation, is the “the actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”  Section 1.020(8).  It also refers to the general “disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability.”  Johnson v. Missouri Bd. of Nursing Adm’rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).  
Partney argues that he has never had any complaints in his professional business and that his wildlife violations are not related to his profession.  Because a real estate salesperson must conduct business in accordance with the law, many crimes could reflect on a person’s competence to transact the business of a real estate salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.  In this case, however, we agree that the wildlife violations are unrelated to the real estate profession and do not reflect on Partney’s competence to transact the business of a real estate salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.  

C.  Conclusion
The MREC has proven that Partney fails to meet the qualification of good moral character in § 339.040.1(3), which is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15).

II.  Subdivision (17):
Plea of Guilty to Criminal Offense

The MREC cites § 339.100.2(17), which allows discipline for the licensee having: 

[b]een finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any 
offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

The MREC asserts in separate paragraphs of its complaint and motion that Partney pled guilty and was adjudicated guilty.  The MREC asserts that Partney’s crimes involve moral turpitude and are reasonably related to the qualifications of the profession.  The MREC does not allege that Partney’s crimes are reasonably related to the functions or duties of the profession, or that fraud, dishonesty, or an act of violence are essential elements of Partney’s crimes.  

A.  Reasonably Related to the Qualifications of the Profession
Partney pled guilty to two counts of violating federal wildlife regulations.  Because these offenses show a lack of good moral character, as we have already discussed, they reasonably relate to the qualifications of a real estate salesperson.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).
B.  Moral Turpitude
Moral turpitude is: 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.” 

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 
(Mo. banc 1929)).  
Setting leg traps on Forest Service land is dangerous not only to animals, but to humans.  Traps are indiscriminate; they trap whatever trips them.  We could reasonably foresee a member of the public or a Forest Service employee tripping the traps.  Setting traps on Forest Service land shows a blatant disregard for public safety and is an act of baseness, vileness or depravity in 
the private or social duties that a man owes to his fellow man or society in general.  In addition, Partney actually trapped and transported wildlife on Forest Service land.  Partney committed a crime of moral turpitude, and there is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).
C.  Conclusion

Partney pled guilty, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of the United States, to a crime that involves moral turpitude and is reasonably related to the qualifications of the profession.
  We find cause to discipline under § 339.100.2(17).
III.  Subdivision (18):
Any Other Conduct


The MREC cites § 339.100.2(18), which allows discipline for:  

[a]ny other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, or demonstrates bad faith or gross negligence[.]

The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT <any [other] man would have done better>.”  WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1598 (unabr. 1986).  Accordingly, this subdivision refers to conduct different from that referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.  As the conclusions above show, other subdivisions allow discipline for the conduct to which Partney pled guilty.  Therefore, § 339.100.2(18) does not apply.
Summary


We find cause to discipline Partney under § 339.100.2(15) and (17).  We cancel the hearing.  

SO ORDERED on June 22, 2006.



________________________________



TERRY M. JARRETT


Commissioner

	�The record shows that the MREC issued Partney a license as a real estate salesperson on October 3, 2001.  Apparently Partney’s previous license either lapsed or was revoked as a result of the 1997 disciplinary proceeding, and the MREC reissued a license on October 3, 2001.  


	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


	�To the extent that Partney was “adjudicated” guilty, as the MREC alleges, this was based solely on the guilty plea and not on any independent finding by the court.  
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